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this case.  Accordingly, the case is hereby
REMANDED to the Dallas County Court
at Law No. 4 in Dallas County, Texas.

SO ORDERED.

,
  

SOUTHWEST AIRLINES
CO., Plaintiff,

v.

FARECHASE, INC., and Outtask,
Inc., Defendants.

No. Civ. 303CV2671H.

United States District Court,
N.D. Texas,

Dallas Division.

March 19, 2004.

Background:  Software company, which
created a product which allowed corporate
travelers to search online for airline fares,
filed motion to dismiss airline’s claims for
computer fraud and abuse, misappropria-
tion, breach of a use agreement, tortious
interference, trespass, unjust enrichment,
and harmful access by computer.

Holdings:  The District Court, Sanders,
Senior District Judge, held that:

(1) airline stated claim under Computer
Fraud and Abuse Act (CFAA);

(2) fare, route, and scheduling information
which were allegedly misappropriated
were not copyrightable and therefore
airline’s misappropriation claim under
Texas law was not preempted by feder-
al copyright law;

(3) airline stated a claim for interference
with business relations;

(4) airline stated claim for harmful access
by computer.

Motion denied.

1. Telecommunications O461.15

Airline website operator sufficiently
alleged loss aggregating at least $5,000 as
required to state a cause of action pursu-
ant to Computer Fraud and Abuse Act
(CFAA) against creator of product which
allowed corporate travelers to search on-
line for airline fares.  18 U.S.C.A.
§ 1030(e)(8).

2. Telecommunications O461.15

Airline website operator sufficiently
alleged unauthorized access for purposes
of stating claim under Computer Fraud
and Abuse Act (CFAA) against creator of
software product which allowed corporate
travelers to search online for airline fares;
regardless of whether operator’s use
agreement created an enforceable contract
for purposes of a breach of contract claim
pursuant to state law, defendant software
licensee knew that operator prohibited the
use of ‘‘any deep-link, page-scrape, robot,
spider or other automatic device, program,
algorithm or methodology’’ which did the
same things.  18 U.S.C.A. § 1030.

3. Copyrights and Intellectual Property
O109

 States O18.87

Federal copyright law preempts state
law causes of action that create equivalent
rights.  17 U.S.C.A. § 301.

4. Copyrights and Intellectual Property
O108

 States O18.87

Fare, route, and scheduling informa-
tion which were allegedly misappropriated
were not copyrightable and therefore air-
line’s misappropriation claim under Texas
law against creator of software product
which allowed corporate travelers to
search online for airline fares was not
preempted by federal copyright law.  17
U.S.C.A. § 301.
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5. Trade Regulation O862.1
Elements of misappropriation claim

under Texas law are:  (1) the creation of
plaintiff’s product through extensive time,
labor, skill, and money, (2) the defendant’s
use of that product in competition with the
plaintiff, thereby gaining a special advan-
tage in that competition because defendant
is burdened with little or none of the ex-
pense incurred by the plaintiff, and (3)
commercial damage to the plaintiff.

6. Trade Regulation O864
Airline website operator’s allegations

that software company’s product, which
allowed corporate travelers to search on-
line for airline fares, was in competition
with airline’s product were sufficient to
state a claim under Texas law for misap-
propriation.

7. Copyrights and Intellectual Property
O107

Airline website operator’s allegations
that its use agreement was a valid contract
was enough to state a breach of contract
claim under Texas law against creator of
software product which allowed corporate
travelers to search online for airline fares;
whether use agreement was a valid con-
tract was fact issue to be determined later.

8. Torts O10(3), 12
Airline website operator’s allegations

were sufficient to state a claim under Tex-
as law for interference with business rela-
tions against creator of software product
that allowed corporate travelers to search
online for airline fares; airline alleged that
there was a reasonable probability that
customers who purchased their tickets on
software company’s application would have
entered into a contractual relationship di-
rectly with airline,  that some prospective
relationships did not form because soft-
ware company wrongfully diverted cus-
tomers to other airlines,  that software
company’s acts impaired airline’s market-
ing efforts of its product,  and that even

with customers who purchased tickets
from airline, software company interfered
by causing the web site to be slow and
outdated.

9. Trespass O6
Under Texas law, trespass to chattel

is the wrongful interference with the use
or possession of another’s property; liabili-
ty does not attach, unless the wrongful
detention is accompanied by actual dam-
ages to the property or deprives the owner
of its use for a substantial period of time.

10. Trespass O40(5)
Because airline website operator only

sought an injunction pursuant to its tres-
pass to chattel claim, it was not required
under Texas law to plead actual damage or
deprivation of the use of the property for a
substantial period of time.

11. Telecommunications O461.15
Airline website operator, which al-

leged that software company had knowing-
ly accessed airline’s computer system with-
out effective consent, and continued to do
so, stated claim under Texas law for harm-
ful access by computer.  V.T.C.A., Civil
Practice & Remedies Code § 143.001(a).

Ramona Martinez, Cowles & Thompson,
Dallas, TX, R. Paul Yetter, Yetter & War-
den, Houston, TX, for Plaintiff.

Ralph H. Duggins, Cantey & Hanger,
Fort Worth, TX, for Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION
AND ORDER

SANDERS, Senior District Judge.

Before the Court are Defendant Out-
task, Inc.’s Motion to Dismiss, filed Janu-
ary 23, 2004;  Plaintiff’s Response, filed
February 12, 2004;  and Defendant Out-
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task, Inc.’s Reply, filed February 25, 2004.
Defendant Outtask, Inc. (‘‘Outtask’’) moves
for dismissal of claims for computer fraud
and abuse, misappropriation, breach of a
use agreement, tortious interference, tres-
pass, unjust enrichment, and harmful ac-
cess by computer, all pursuant to Rule
12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Pro-
cedure.  Upon review of the pleadings,
briefs, and relevant authorities, the Court
is of the Opinion for the reasons stated
below that Defendant Outtask’s Motion to
Dismiss should be DENIED.

I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff Southwest Airlines, Inc.
(‘‘Southwest’’) is a short-haul, low-fare,
high frequency, point-to-point air carrier,
based in Dallas, Texas.  (Compl. at 4).
Southwest also developed and maintains
the website Southwest.com, from which it
‘‘provides proprietary fare, route, and
schedule information to its actual and po-
tential customers in an interactive for-
mat.’’  (Id. at 5).  Defendant FareChase,
Inc. (‘‘FareChase’’) manufactures, devel-
ops, and licenses software (‘‘FareChase
software’’) that can access, search, and ob-
tain data from Southwest.com by ‘‘sending
out a robot, spider, or other automated
scraping device across the Internet.’’  (Id.
at 6–7).  Defendant Outtask licenses this
software from FareChase and uses the
software in it’s ‘‘Cliqbook’’ product, which
‘‘allows corporate travelers to search for
airline fare, as well as various features de-
signed for corporate travel.’’  (Id. at 7).

In its Complaint, filed October 31, 2003,
Southwest claims that Defendants use of
the FareChase software is unauthorized,
that it deceives consumers, and that it
provides incomplete and inaccurate infor-
mation.  (Compl. at 7–11).  Southwest as-
serts twelve causes of action against Fare-
Chase and Outtask:  1) false advertising
and unfair competition in violation of 15
U.S.C. § 1125;  2) trademark infringement
in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1051;  3) com-

puter fraud and abuse in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 1030;  4) misappropriation;  5)
breach of Southwest.com Use Agreement;
6) interference with business relations;  7)
trespass;  8) unjust enrichment;  9) harm-
ful access by computer;  10) violation of the
Texas Anti–Dilution Act, TEX. BUS. & COM.

CODE ANN. § 16.29;  11) Texas common law
trademark infringement;  and 12) civil con-
spiracy.  In lieu of filing an answer, Defen-
dant Outtask filed the instant Motion to
Dismiss six of Southwest’s claims pursuant
to Rule 12(b)(6):  1) computer fraud and
abuse in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1030, 2)
misappropriation, 3) breach of South-
west.com Use Agreement, 4) interference
with business relations, 5) trespass, and 6)
harmful access by computer.  Defendant
FareChase has not joined in the instant
motion.  The Court will address each of
Outtask’s arguments separately below.

II. RULE 12(b)(6) MOTION TO DIS-
MISS STANDARD

In considering a motion to dismiss a
complaint for failure to state a claim, the
Court must accept as true the non-mov-
ant’s well-pleaded factual allegations and
any reasonable inferences to be drawn
from them.  Tuchman v. DSC Communi-
cations Corp., 14 F.3d 1061, 1067 (5th Cir.
1994).  To avoid dismissal for failure to
state a claim, however, a plaintiff ‘‘must
plead specific facts, not mere conclusory
allegations.’’  Guidry v. Bank of LaPlace,
954 F.2d 278, 281 (5th Cir.1992) (citation
omitted).  Thus, the Court will not accept
as true any conclusory allegations or un-
warranted deductions of fact.  Generally,
the Court may not look beyond the plead-
ings, except in instances where public offi-
cials’ qualified immunity is raised.  Com-
pare Mahone v. Addicks Util. Dist., 836
F.2d 921, 936 (5th Cir.1988) with Babb v.
Dorman, 33 F.3d 472 (5th Cir.1994) [and ]
Schultea v. Wood, 47 F.3d 1427 (5th Cir.
1995) [and ] Elliott v. Perez, 751 F.2d 1472
(5th Cir.1985).



438 318 FEDERAL SUPPLEMENT, 2d SERIES

Dismissal for failure to state a claim is
not favored by the law.  Mahone, 836 F.2d
at 926.  A plaintiff’s ‘‘complaint should not
be dismissed for failure to state a claim
unless it appears beyond doubt that the
plaintiff can prove no set of facts in sup-
port of his claim which would entitle him
to relief.’’  Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41,
45–46, 78 S.Ct. 99, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957).
See Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236,
94 S.Ct. 1683, 40 L.Ed.2d 90 (1974) (‘‘The
issue is not whether a plaintiff will ulti-
mately prevail but whether the claimant is
entitled to offer evidence to support the
claims.’’);  Heimann v. National Elevator
Industry Pension Fund, 187 F.3d 493, 502
(5th Cir.1999) (holding the court may dis-
miss a claim under 12(b)(6) only if ‘‘it
appears that no relief could be granted
under any set of facts that could be proved
consistent with the allegations’’) (quoting
Barrientos v. Reliance Standard Life Ins.
Co., 911 F.2d 1115 (5th Cir.1990)).  How-
ever, ‘‘there are times when a court should
exercise its power to dismiss a complaint
under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure.’’  Mahone, 836 F.2d at
927 (emphasis in original).

III. ANALYSIS

Defendant Outtask filed the instant Mo-
tion to Dismiss six of Southwest’s claims
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6):  1) computer
fraud and abuse in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1030, 2) misappropriation, 3) breach of
Southwest.com Use Agreement, 4) inter-
ference with business relations, 5) tres-
pass, and 6) harmful access by computer.

The Court will address each of Outtask’s
arguments separately below.

A. Computer Fraud and Abuse in Vi-
olation of 18 U.S.C. § 1030

Outtask moves to dismiss Southwest’s
claim that Outtask’s use of the FareChase
software violates the Computer Fraud and
Abuse Act (‘‘CFAA’’), 18 U.S.C. § 1030,
‘‘because plaintiff has not alleged any stat-
utorily-defined damage or any unautho-
rized access.’’  (Def.’s Br. at 8).

1. Allegations of Damage and Loss

The CFAA provides that ‘‘whoever TTT

intentionally accesses a computer without
authorization or exceeds authorized access,
and thereby obtains TTT information from
any protected computer if the conduct in-
volved an interstate or foreign communica-
tion’’ or ‘‘knowingly and with intent to
defraud, accesses a protected computer
without authorization, or exceeds author-
ized access, and by means of such conduct
furthers the intended fraud and obtains
anything of value TTT shall be punished as
provided in subsection (c) of this section.’’
18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(2)(C) & (a)(4).  The
CFAA also provides for a civil action by
anyone who has suffered ‘‘damage or loss
by reason of a violation of this section,’’
but requires that the conduct involve ‘‘one
of the factors set forth in clause (i), (ii),
(iii), (iv), or (v) of subsection (a)(5)(B).’’ 1

§ 1030(g).  The only factor delineated in
subsection (a)(5)(B) relevant to the instant
case is (i):  ‘‘loss to one or more persons
during any one-year period TTT aggregat-
ing at least $5,000 in value.’’ 2

1. Section 1030(g) reads, in part,

Any person who suffers damage or loss by
reason of a violation of this section may
maintain a civil action against the violator
to obtain compensatory damages and in-
junctive relief or other equitable relief.  A
civil action for a violation of this section
may be brought only if the conduct involves

1 of the factors set forth in clause (i), (ii),
(iii), (iv), or (v) of subsection (a)(5)(B).

2. Section 1030(a) reads, in part,
whoever TTT

(5)(A)(i) knowingly causes the transmission
of a program, information, code, or com-
mand, and as a result of such conduct,
intentionally causes damage without au-
thorization, to a protected computer;
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§ 1030(a)(5)(B)(i).  Loss is defined as ‘‘any
reasonable cost to any victim, including the
cost of responding to an offense, conduct-
ing a damage assessment, and restoring
the data, program, system or information
to its condition prior to the offense, and
any revenue lost, cost incurred, or other
consequential damages incurred because of
interruption of service.’’ § 1030(e)(11).

[1] In the instant case, Outtask argues
that Southwest has not alleged damages
fitting the statutory definition of damage
in § 1030(e)(8).  (See Def.’s Br. at 7).  The
Court concludes that Southwest has al-
leged sufficient facts to state a cause of
action pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1030 be-
cause Southwest has alleged loss aggregat-
ing at least $5,000.  The CFAA does not
require a civil plaintiff to allege damage, as
defined in § 1030(e)(8), if the civil plaintiff
alleges loss of at least $5,000 as defined in
§ 1030(e)(11).  Outtask’s argument in its
Reply, that subsection (a)(5)(B) requires
an allegation of conduct described in sub-
section (a)(5)(A), which requires an allega-
tion of damage, is inapposite.  (See Def.’s
Reply at 7).  A careful reading of the
statute shows that a civil plaintiff is not
required to state a cause of action pursu-
ant to subsection (a)(5), but merely to al-
lege one of the factors enunciated in sub-
section (a)(5)(B).  See 18 U.S.C. § 1030(g).
Southwest has alleged one of these factors

and therefore has stated a cause of action
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1030.

2. Allegation of Unauthorized Access

[2] Outtask next argues that South-
west has failed to state a cause of action
pursuant to the CFAA because Southwest
has not sufficiently alleged unauthorized
access.  (Def.’s Br. at 9).  Outtask argues
that accessing fare and scheduling infor-
mation that Southwest publishes on South-
west.com is not improper as a matter of
law.  (See Def.’s Br. at 9).  Defendant
supports this argument by arguing that
the Use Agreement is not a contract.  (See
id. at 9, 11–13).  Southwest argues that
the Southwest.com Use Agreement, acces-
sible from all pages on the website, in
addition to direct ‘‘repeated warnings and
requests to stop scraping,’’ show that Out-
task’s access was unauthorized.  (Pl.’s Br.
at 15).

The Court agrees with Southwest.  Re-
gardless of whether the Use Agreement
creates an enforceable contract for pur-
poses of a breach of contract claim pursu-
ant to state law, Outtask knew that South-
west prohibited the use of ‘‘any deep-link,
page-scrape, robot, spider or other auto-
matic device, program, algorithm or meth-
odology which does the same things.’’
(Pl.’s App. at 2–3).  Even if Outtask did
not read the Use Agreement before ac-

(ii) intentionally accesses a protected
computer without authorization, and as a
result of such conduct, recklessly causes
damage;  or
(iii) intentionally accesses a protected
computer without authorization, and as a
result of such conduct, causes damage;
and

(B) by conduct described in clause (i), (ii),
or (iii) of subparagraph (A), caused (or, in
the case of an attempted offense, would, if
completed, have caused)—

(i) loss to 1 or more persons during any
1–year period (and, for purposes of an
investigation, prosecution, or other pro-
ceeding brought by the United States

only, loss resulting from a related course
of conduct affecting 1 or more other pro-
tected computers) aggregating at least
$5,000 in value;
(ii) the modification or impairment, or
potential modification or impairment, of
the medical examination, diagnosis, treat-
ment, or care of 1 or more individuals;
(iii) physical injury to any person;
(iv) a threat to public health or safety;  or
(v) damage affecting a computer system
used by or for a government entity in
furtherance of the administration of jus-
tice, national defense, or national securi-
ty.
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cessing Southwest.com with the Fare-
Chase software, Southwest alleges that it
directly informed Outtask that their access
was unauthorized.  (Compl. at 11).  South-
west has alleged sufficient facts to state a
cause of action pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1030.  The Court DENIES Defendant
Outtask’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff
Southwest’s claims for computer fraud and
abuse pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1030.

B. Misappropriation and Unjust En-
richment

Outtask moves to dismiss Southwest’s
claim that Outtask’s use of the FareChase
software constitutes misappropriation and
unjust enrichment pursuant to state com-
mon law.  (Def.’s Br. at 4).  Outtask ar-
gues that these claims are preempted by
federal copyright law.  (Id. at 4).  Defen-
dant also argues that Southwest’s misap-
propriation claim should be dismissed be-
cause Southwest ‘‘does not allege any facts
showing that Outtask used a Southwest
product in competition with Southwest.’’
(Def.’s Br. at 9).

1. Preemption by Federal Copyright
Law

[3] Federal copyright law preempts
state law causes of action that create
equivalent rights.  17 U.S.C. § 301.  ‘‘Sec-
tion 301 of the [Copyright] Act sets forth
two conditions, both of which must be sat-
isfied, for preemption of a right under
state law to occur:  First, the work in
which the right is asserted must come
within the subject matter of copyright as
defined in sections 102 and 103.  Second,
the right that the author seeks to protect
must be equivalent to any of the exclusive
rights within the general scope of copy-
right as specified by section 106.’’  Alcatel
USA, Inc. v. DGI Tech., Inc., 166 F.3d 772,
778–86 (1999) (emphasis in original);  17
U.S.C. § 301.  In the instant case, Outtask
argues both of these conditions are satis-
fied:  1) that the fares and schedules that it

allegedly misappropriates, although not
themselves copyrightable, are within the
subject matter of copyright law;  and 2)
that state law claims of misappropriation
and unjust enrichment require no proof of
an extra element, and thus are equivalent
to the exclusive rights of copyright as
specified in section 106 of the Copyright
Act. (Def.’s Br. at 5–6).

[4] Southwest contends that the fares
and schedules Outtask allegedly misappro-
priates are not copyrightable and thus not
within the subject matter of copyright law.
(Pl.’s Br. at 19–22).  Southwest also argues
that its claim of misappropriation of com-
puter capacity is not within the subject
matter of the copyright laws, and thus not
preempted.  (Id.).

In Feist Publ’ns, Inc. v. Rural Tel. Serv.
Co., Inc., 499 U.S. 340, 111 S.Ct. 1282, 113
L.Ed.2d 358, the Supreme Court clarified
that facts are not copyrightable, and ‘‘a
subsequent compiler [of the facts] remains
free to use the facts contained in another’s
publication to aid in preparing a competing
work, so long as the competing work does
not feature the same selection and ar-
rangement.’’  Feist Publ’ns, 499 U.S. at
349, 111 S.Ct. 1282. The Supreme Court
also allowed that protection for the effort
of collecting and compiling the facts ‘‘may
in certain circumstances be available under
a theory of unfair competition.’’  Id. at
353, 111 S.Ct. 1282 (citing with approval 1
M. Nimmer & D. Nimmer, COPYRIGHT

§ 3.04, p. 3–23 (1990)).

In the instant case, Southwest asserts
the misappropriation claim against Outtask
for use of both computer system capacity
‘‘as well as the fare, route, and scheduling
information contained in it.’’  (Compl. at
15).  Fare, route and scheduling informa-
tion are all facts and thus not copyrighta-
ble.  See Feist Publ’ns, 499 U.S. at 353,
111 S.Ct. 1282.  The Court finds that
Southwest does not assert a claim against
Outtask that would fall within the subject
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matter of copyright law.  See also Sefton
v. Jew, 201 F.Supp.2d 730, 746 (W.D.Tex.
2001).  Thus, the first condition in the test
to determine if a state cause of action is
preempted by the copyright law has not
been satisfied.  The Court need not reach
the second factor.  The Court DENIES
Defendant Outtask’s Motion to Dismiss
Plaintiff Southwest’s unjust enrichment
claim.

2. Misappropriation

[5] ‘‘The elements of misappropriation
are:  (i) the creation of plaintiff’s product
through extensive time, labor, skill, and
money, (ii) the defendant’s use of that
product in competition with the plaintiff,
thereby gaining a special advantage in that
competition (i.e., a ‘‘free ride’’) because
defendant is burdened with little or none
of the expense incurred by the plaintiff,
and (iii) commercial damage to the plain-
tiff.’’  Aldridge v. The Gap, Inc., 866
F.Supp. 312, 313 (N.D.Tex.1994) (citing
United States Sporting Prods., Inc. v.
Johnny Stewart Game Calls, Inc., 865
S.W.2d 214, 218 (Tex.App.—Waco 1993,
writ denied)).  Outtask argues that South-
west cannot state a claim for misappropri-
ation because it has not alleged that Out-
task uses a Southwest product;  Outtask
argues that it is the customer using Out-
task’s Cliqbook product and that only
those using Cliqbook actually use South-
west’s product.  (Def.’s Br. at 9–10).  The
Court finds this argument specious and
agrees with Southwest that at best, this
argument raises a fact issue.  (See Pl.’s
Br. at 23).

[6] Outtask then argues that even if
Outtask is found to use a Southwest prod-
uct, it is not in competition with South-
west, a required element of misappropria-
tion.  (Def.’s Br. at 10).  Outtask argues

that Southwest is an air carrier, and Out-
task a software company, and therefore,
the two are not in competition.  (Def.’s Br.
at 10).  The Court does not agree.  South-
west alleges in its Complaint that Out-
task’s Cliqbook product is in competition
with Southwest’s SWABIZ product;  that
is enough to state a claim for misappropri-
ation. (See Compl. at 10;  Pl.’s Br. at 23).
The Court DENIES Defendant Outtask’s
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff Southwest’s
misappropriation claim.

C. Breach of Southwest.com Use
Agreement

[7] Outtask moves to dismiss South-
west’s claim that Outtask breached the
Southwest.com Use Agreement because
Southwest ‘‘has not alleged the existence
of a binding and enforceable contract.’’
(Def.’s Br. at 11).  ‘‘The elements of a
breach of contract claim are:  1) the exis-
tence of a valid contract;  2) performance
or tendered performance by the plaintiff;
3) breach of the contract by the defendant;
and 4) damages to the plaintiff resulting
from that breach.’’  Wright v. Christian &
Smith, 950 S.W.2d 411, 412 (Tex.App.—
Houston [1st Dist] 1997, no writ) (citing
Hussong v. Schwan’s Sales Enters., Inc.,
896 S.W.2d 320, 326 (Tex.App.—Houston
[1st Dist.] 1995, no writ)).  Outtask argues
that the Use Agreement is not a valid
contract.  (Def.’s Br. at 11–13).  In the
Complaint, Southwest alleges that the Use
Agreement is a valid contract and that is
enough to state a claim.  The Court finds
that Southwest has alleged all of the ele-
ments of a breach of contract claim and
that Outtask merely raises a fact issue as
to whether the Use Agreement is a valid
contract.3  The Court DENIES Defendant
Outtask’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff
Southwest’s Breach of the Use Agreement
claim.

3. Outtask argues that the Use Agreement is a
‘‘browse wrap’’ agreement, as defined in
Specht v. Netscape Communications Corp.,
306 F.3d 17 (2d Cir.2002), and as such is
unenforceable.  The Court finds Specht inap-

posite in the instant case.  The Second Circuit
in Specht only concluded that the browse
wrap agreement at issue in that case did not
constitute a contract after examining the cir-
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D. Interference with Business Rela-
tions

[8] Outtask moves to dismiss South-
west’s claim for interference with business
relations because ‘‘Southwest has pleaded
itself out of such a claim.’’  (Def.’s Br. at
13).  Outtask argues that Southwest has
admitted that some of the customers using
Outtask’s Cliqbook product do form a rela-
tionship with Southwest by purchasing
tickets with Southwest.  (Def.’s Br. at 13).
However, the Court concludes Southwest
has alleged ‘‘that there was a reasonable
probability that customers who purchased
[their] tickets on defendant’s application
would have entered into a contractual rela-
tionship directly with Southwest’’;  that
some prospective relationships do not form
because Outtask wrongfully diverts cus-
tomers to other airlines;  that Outtask’s
acts impair Southwest’s marketing efforts
of its SWABIZ product;  and that even
with customers who purchase tickets from
Southwest, Outtask interferes by causing
the web site to be slow and out-dated.
(See Pl.’s Br. at 23–24).  The Court finds
this sufficient to state a claim for interfer-
ence with business relations. The Court
DENIES Defendant Outtask’s Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiff Southwest’s interference
with business relations claim.

E. Trespass

[9] Outtask moves to dismiss South-
west’s claim for trespass because South-
west has not alleged physical harm or
deprivation of use for a substantial period
of time.  (Def.’s Br. at 14).  Trespass to
chattel is the wrongful interference with
the use or possession of another’s proper-
ty.  See Omnibus Int’l, Inc. v. AT & T,
Inc., 111 S.W.3d 818, 826 (Tex.App.—Dal-

las 2003, pet. granted, judgm’t vacated
w.r.m.).  ‘‘The commission of a trespass
does not necessarily mean the actor will be
liable for damages.’’  Zapata v. Ford Mo-
tor Credit Co., 615 S.W.2d 198, 201 (Tex.
1981).  ‘‘Liability does not attach, unless
the wrongful detention is accompanied by
actual damages to the property or deprives
the owner of its use for a substantial peri-
od of time.’’  Id.

[10] In the instant case, Southwest ar-
gues that it has alleged enough to state a
claim for trespass, although not enough to
make Outtask liable for damages.  (Pl.’s
Br. at 16–18).  Because it is only seeking
an injunction pursuant to its trespass
claim, Southwest argues that it need not
plead actual damage or deprivation of the
use of the property for a substantial period
of time.  (Id.) The Court agrees and con-
cludes that Southwest has alleged facts to
state a claim that Outtask has wrongfully
interfered with Southwest’s use of its
property.  Additionally, the Court con-
cludes Southwest has arguably alleged
damage;  the question of whether the dam-
age is actual or physical, or whether the
interference is for a substantial period of
time, is a fact question and inappropriate
for resolution in a motion to dismiss.  The
Court DENIES Defendant Outtask’s Mo-
tion to Dismiss Plaintiff Southwest’s tres-
pass claim.

F. Harmful Access by Computer

Outtask moves to dismiss Southwest’s
claim for harmful access by computer be-
cause Southwest ‘‘has not alleged any inju-
ry to its computer network or system, nor
has [it] alleged that Outtask directly en-
gage in any prohibited conduct.’’  (Def.’s
Br. at 16).  The Texas Civil Practices and
Remedies Code § 143.001(a) creates a civil
cause of action for ‘‘a person who is in-

cumstances surrounding its use.  Outtask’s
argument in the instant case would be more
properly brought in a motion for summary

judgment, not a motion to dismiss for failure
to state a claim.
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jured or whose property has been injured
as a result of a violation under Chapter 33,
Penal Code, TTT if the conduct constituting
the violation was committed knowingly or
intentionally.’’  TEX. CIV PRAC. & REM.CODE

ANN. § 143.001(a) (Vernon 1997).  The
Texas Penal Code § 33.02(a) reads:  ‘‘A
person commits an offense if the person
knowingly accesses a computer, computer
network, or computer system without the
effective consent of the owner.’’  TEX. PE-

NAL CODE ANN. § 33.02(a) (Vernon 2003).

[11] In the instant case, Outtask ar-
gues that the Penal Code requires the
alleged injury involve ‘‘some kind of im-
pairment to the integrity or availability
of Southwest’s data, program, system or
information.’’ 4  (Def.’s Br. at 16).  The
Court disagrees.  The statute merely re-
quires that the access be without effec-
tive consent;  it does not require injury.
Section 33.02(b) discusses injury, but
only in regard to the level of the offense.
See § 33.02(b).  The Court concludes
Southwest has alleged that Outtask has
knowingly accessed Southwest’s computer
system without effective consent, and
continues to do so.  Even if Outtask is
correct that Southwest must allege inju-
ry, the Court concludes that Southwest
has alleged injury to its computer system
as a result of Outtask’s access.  The
Court DENIES Defendant Outtask’s Mo-
tion to Dismiss Plaintiff Southwest’s
harmful access to computer claim.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Defendant
Outtask’s Motion to Dismiss is DENIED.

SO ORDERED.

,
 

 

Antonio CAMARGO

v.

TRAMMELL CROW INTEREST
COMPANY, d/b/a Crow

Holdings.

Civil Action No. 6:03 CV 1.

United States District Court,
E.D. Texas,

Tyler Division.

Feb. 23, 2004.

Background:  Employee, a manual labor-
er, brought action against employer for
overtime pay pursuant to Fair Labor Stan-
dards Act (FLSA).

Holdings:  The District Court, Davis, J.,
held that:

(1) employee’s work did not fall under
FLSA’s agricultural exemption;

(2) employee’s work did not fall under
FLSA’s forestry exemption; and

(3) employer was liable to employee for
unpaid overtime and equal amount as
liquidated damages, plus costs of his
litigation including reasonable attorney
fees.

Judgment for plaintiff.

1. Labor and Employment O2251
FLSA exemptions are to be narrowly

construed against employers seeking to as-
sert them and their application are to be
limited to those establishments plainly and
unmistakably within their terms and spirit.
Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, § 13, 29
U.S.C.A. § 213.

2. Labor and Employment O2338
U.S. Department of Labor’s regula-

tions interpreting FLSA are entitled to
deference.  Fair Labor Standards Act of
1938, § 1 et seq., 29 U.S.C.A. § 201 et seq.

4. Outtask cites Mitchell v. State, 12 S.W.3d
158, 159 (Tex.App.—Dallas 2000, no pet.), in

support of its position.  The Court finds this
case inapposite.


